A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the City of Clyde Hill, defendant below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City of Clyde Hill (the "City") seeks review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, filed on April 20, 2015; and the order denying motion for reconsideration, filed on May 28, 2015. Copies of both decisions are in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-15.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Where a municipal code requires exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to judicial review of the municipality's final quasi-judicial administrative decision, is a party wishing to appeal that decision required to seek judicial review under the procedures set forth by the Legislature at RCW 7.16.040 (the writ of review statue)?
- 2. If a party is allowed to bring an action under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act ("UDJA"), Ch. 7.24 RCW, to challenge a City's quasi-judicial administrative decision, then is a 30-day time period a reasonable time by analogy to file such action?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For a number of years the City has imposed a utility tax on telephone businesses such as New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC ("New Cingular"). In November of 2010, New Cingular made written demand to the City for a refund of utility tax monies for sales of wireless internet services to Clyde Hill customers for a five-year period between November

1, 2005, and September 30, 2010 (the "refund demand"). *CP 560-79* In its refund demand, New Cingular admitted it had collected and paid monies for the City's utility tax in violation of the Internet Tax Freedom Act ("ITFA"), which prohibits the taxing of wireless internet services. *Id*.

New Cingular had originally submitted its tax returns along with declarations verifying the truth and accuracy of the statements made therein. *CP 383-515*. As it had collected and paid taxes in violation of the ITFA, the City determined these declarations contained false statements that violated the City's tax code, CHMC 3.28.130 B.¹

The City issued New Cingular a notice of violation (NOV) for making false statements in connection with it utility tax returns. *CP 555-558* The City assessed fines under CHMCs 3.28.140 and 1.08.010. App., A-52 and A-54. The City's code requires a party challenging an NOV to file a written request for a hearing within 15 days. CHMC 1.08.030. The appeal is heard and decided by the Mayor. *Id*.

New Cingular timely responded to the City with a letter of protest and request for a hearing. *CP 580-585* New Cingular requested permission to appear at the hearing via telephone.² *CP 550* Although

¹ The complete text of CHMC 3.28.130 B is set out in the Appendix at A-53.

² The statement made by the Court of Appeals in its opinion at page 3, that "The city administrator offered New Cingular the choice of an 'informal hearing' or a decision {GAR1347926.DOCX;1/00019.050025/}

New Cingular could have provided evidence at this hearing, including witness testimony, billing records, and any documentation it felt necessary to mount a defense, it appeared only through its attorney (via phone) and relied solely upon its earlier letter of protest. *CP 230-233* New Cingular willfully chose not to submit any witnesses or documentary evidence at its hearing.³ New Cingular appeared to treat the NOV – and the City's administrative process related to the NOV – as an unimportant nuisance.

The Mayor issued an administrative decision denying New Cingular's appeal and affirming the NOV. *CP 234-237* The City's code states that this decision is final and binding, subject only to an "appeal in superior court." CHMC 1.08.030.⁴ App., A-54 to A-55. Had New Cingular wanted to seek judicial review of the Mayor's decision (a quasi-judicial administrative decision), it needed to file a timely statutory writ of

based on its written protest alone. New Cingular requested an informal hearing," is not supported by the record. In truth, New Cingular is the party that requested a telephonic hearing, which the City granted.

³ New Cingular's failure to offer any witnesses or documentary evidence resulted in the 5 minute hearing referenced by the Court of Appeals at page 3 of the Op.

⁴ The code does not say a party must file a "Notice of Appeal." The City did not make such an argument. The Court of Appeals claim that the City made this argument, Op. at 5, is mistaken. (See, e.g., the VRP at pgs. 11-12, where the City's legal counsel specifically advised the trial court that the City was not making this argument. App., A-66 through A-67. This code provision is important, however, to the extent it indicates: (1) conclusion of the City's administrative process; and (2) that the City believes its decision is subject to the court's appellate jurisdiction.

review pursuant to RCW 7.16.040. It did not. Instead, almost four months later, it filed an action under the UDJA. *CP 1-5* The City answered and counter-claimed, requesting entry of judgment on the amount imposed by the NOV, plus interest and attorney's fees. *CP 10-36*

The City filed a motion to dismiss New Cingular's declaratory judgment action on the grounds that their sole avenue of judicial review had been to file a statutory writ of review pursuant to RCW 7.16 within 30 days of the City's decision; that it did not do so; and that the court could not entertain either (1) an untimely judicial appeal, or (2) an original trial action attempting to collaterally attack the City's decision. *CP* 238-239 The trial court granted the City's motion, stating in its order that, "...the Court declines to entertain [New Cingular's] Complaint . . ." *CP* 625

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, holding that so long as any administrative remedy is first exhausted, a party may "contest the legality of a municipal fine" by *either* filing a complaint for declaratory judgment (which invokes the court's *trial* jurisdiction), *or* a petition for certiorari under RCW 7.16 (which invokes the court's *appellate* jurisdiction). Op. at 1. Although the court did not reach the question of the time limit applicable to a declaratory judgment action, it stated: "We leave that issue to the trial court on remand, holding

only that it is inappropriate to apply a 30-day time limit by analogy to an appellate proceeding." Op. at 11 (emphasis added). The court declined reconsideration to clarify its ruling regarding the time limit applicable to a declaratory judgment action. App., A-14 to A-15.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeal's decision involves a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution, Article IV, sec 6

The Court of Appeals misinterpreted Art. IV, sec. 6 of our State Constitution. Art. IV, sec. 6 vests the superior courts with jurisdiction over a long list of cases, including cases that fall within the following catch-all provisions: "for such special cases and proceedings as are not otherwise provided for," and "in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court[.]" Obviating the need for the State to set up special courts to hear tax, impost, assessment, toll, or municipal fine issues, Art. IV, sec. 6 also vests authority in the superior courts to hear "cases at law which involve ... the legality of any tax, impost, assessment, toll, or municipal fine, ...".

⁵ The full text of Art. IV, sec 6 can be viewed in the Appendix at A-49.

⁶In its opinion, at 4, the Court of Appeals cited to *only* the first clause of the second paragraph of Art. IV, sec. 6, quoting the Constitution as follows:

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Art. IV, sec. 6 "pertains to both original trial jurisdiction and original appellate jurisdiction." Op. at 4. The court also observed that the Legislature has authority to set up procedural requirements for invoking the superior courts' jurisdiction. Op. at 4-6. Finally, the court correctly noted that the Legislature has set up particular statutes over the years to address the unique circumstances presented by certain administrative appeals, such as the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA"), RCW 36.70C, for appeals of a local jurisdiction's final land use decisions; and the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"), RCW 34.05, for appeals of state administrative agencies' decisions. Op. at 6.

Unfortunately, the court erred by failing to acknowledge that long ago (prior to 1895) the Legislature had enacted the writ statute, RCW 7.16.040, as the exclusive means for New Cingular to obtain judicial review of the City's administrative decision. RCW 7.16.040 provides:

The superior court shall have original jurisdiction in all cases at law which involve the title or possession of real property, or the legality of any tax, impost, assessment, toll, or municipal fine. [stet]

The Court of Appeals ended its citation to Art. IV, sec. 6 with a period (".") after the words "municipal fine." In fact, this constitutional provision does *not* end with those words, but proceeds forward with nine more clauses and about 111 more words; granting original jurisdiction in numerous more instances. Appendix at A-49. The fact that the Constitution grants jurisdiction to the superior courts with regard to "municipal fines" is not unique. It merely means that our state's framers did not want to set up a separate court to hear cases involving the "legality of any tax, impost, assessment, toll, or municipal fine."

Grounds for Granting Writ: A writ of review shall be granted by any court, except a municipal or district court, when an inferior tribunal, board or officer, exercising judicial functions, has exceeded the jurisdiction of such tribunal, board or officer, or one acting illegally, or to correct any erroneous or void proceeding, or a proceeding not according to the course of the common law, and there is no appeal, nor in the judgment of the court, any plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.

It is undisputed that the writ statute applies to non-land use⁷ quasi-judicial administrative decisions. Both New Cingular and the Court of Appeals agree that the Mayor's decision affirming the NOV is an administrative decision subject to the writ statute.⁸ Op. at 7. But without citation to relevant authority, the court held that the writ statute is not the exclusive means to seek judicial review of a "municipal fine." Instead, according to the court, New Cingular has a choice of whether to file a writ action under RCW 7.16 or a declaratory judgment action under the UDJA.

The Court of Appeals decision is wrong. The court tries to justify its decision by stating that because New Cingular was challenging a "municipal fine," and because the Legislature allegedly had not set up special procedures governing judicial review of "municipal fines" – as it

⁷ As noted previously, since 1995 land use decisions have been subject to LUPA.

⁸ New Cingular has never disputed that the City's decision here meets the definition of a quasi-judicial administrative decision. See, e.g., Raynes v. City of Leavenworth, 118 Wn.2d 237, 244-245, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992). See also, CP 253-255.

had with land use decisions in LUPA and state administrative agencies' decisions in the APA – then New Cingular "had a choice that is not available to a party who wishes to challenge a land use decision or an administrative agency decision and is subject to statutory procedural requirements in doing so." Op. at 7. The court concluded that "New Cingular could invoke the superior court's original jurisdiction over municipal fines *either* by filing for a writ of review under RCW 7.16.040 (appellate jurisdiction) or by filing a complaint (trial jurisdiction)." Op. at 7 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals holding is unprecedented.

The Court of Appeals decision is bogged down in concepts of original versus appellate trial court jurisdiction. The Constitution requires that judicial review be available to litigants with regard to administrative decisions. This requirement applies to all administrative decisions; the type of administrative decision is of no import so long as an avenue of judicial review is available. Here, the Legislature has prescribed the

⁹ In partial support of this novel theory, the Court of Appeals cited, without explanation, to its own decision in *Tacoma v. Mary Kay*, 117 Wn. App. 111, 70 P.3d 144 (2003). But *Mary Kay* does not support the court's decision. *Mary Kay* held that the superior court's jurisdiction cannot be compelled by a Tacoma city code provision that purportedly required the filing of a "Notice of Appeal" from the City's administrative decision. But *Mary Kay* did not address the issue of whether the superior court has concurrent trial *and* appellate jurisdiction over review of non-land use administrative decisions (as the Court of Appeals held in the case at bar), nor did *Mary Kay* address the issue of whether an appellant could chose which jurisdiction to invoke. *Mary Kay* is not relevant and does not support the court's published opinion.

process for securing judicial review of certain types of decisions, such as land use decisions (LUPA), state agency decisions (APA) and all other decisions (RCW 7.16).¹⁰

The Court of Appeals decision incorrectly assumes that if the Legislature has not enacted a prescribed process for seeking judicial review of a specifically identified type of administrative decision (such as, in this case, a "municipal fine"), then Art. IV, sec. 6 of the Constitution provides a litigant with the right to circumvent the administrative process and go to court via the UDJA. In fact, under the court's constitutional distinction between trial and appellate jurisdiction, nothing prevents LUPA or APA litigants from circumventing those statutes by invoking constitutionally-based jurisdiction in the superior courts via the UDJA. ¹¹

The Court of Appeals has misinterpreted the Constitution and the Legislature's intent. The fact that the Legislature has set up specific procedures for judicial review of certain types of decisions, such as land

¹⁰ Even the courts by court rule have lawfully prescribed how appellate jurisdiction may be exercised. *See, e.g., State v. Rolax*, 104 Wn.2d 129, 702 P.2d 1185 (1985)(a motion on the merits per RAP 18.14 is a proper and constitutional means of obtaining judicial review in criminal cases); *In re Detention of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 42 P.3d 952 (2002)(discretionary review procedures satisfy constitutional right of alleged sexually violent predator to judicial review).

¹¹ Case law does hold to the contrary, and the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with those cases. This is just another example of how the court's decision does not make sense.

use decisions under the LUPA, does not mean that RCW 7.16 (the writ statute) has become obsolete with regard to securing judicial review of other types of administrative decisions. On the contrary, RCW 7.16.040 clearly contains the Legislature's required procedures for securing judicial review of all types of quasi-judicial administrative decisions that have not otherwise been addressed by separate statutes. Those procedures have long been held by this Court to be the proper means of obtaining judicial review for administrative decisions. See Reeder v. King County, 57 Wn.2d 563, 358 P.2d 810 (1961). Prior to enactment of the LUPA and the APA, appeals of land use decisions and agencies' decisions were reviewed by the courts via the statutory writ of review, RCW Ch. 7.16, even though the writ statute does not specifically single out those categories of administrative decisions. The absence of specific language in the writ statute singling out "municipal fines" as within the scope of the statute is no basis for the Court of Appeals to reject the writ statute.

The Court of Appeals decision to completely ignore the requirements of the writ statute in this case, simply because RCW 7.16.040 does not state that it specifically applies to administrative decisions regarding "municipal fines," is unsupported. That is not how the writ statute and Art. 4, sec. 6 of the Constitution have historically been

interpreted. RCW 7.16 more than adequately assures litigants the right to obtain judicial review in accordance with Art. IV, sec. 6, while still preserving the administrative process. The Court of Appeals erroneous constitutional analysis merits review by this Court.

- 2. The Court of Appeals published decision conflicts with existing precedent from this Court and other appellate courts / RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2)
 - a. The court's decision conflicts with cases requiring parties to seek judicial review of administrative decisions via statutory writ proceedings / Reeder v. King County

The pivotal issue in this petition is whether the sole means of obtaining judicial review of a municipality's final administrative decision, such as the City's decision on the municipal fine issued to New Cingular, is by filing a timely writ of review pursuant to RCW 7.16.040. The Court of Appeals published opinion, which allowed New Cingular to challenge the City's decision via a complaint for a declaratory judgment, is in direct conflict with *Reeder v. King County,* 57 Wn.2d 563, 358 P.2d 810 (1961). In *Reeder*, this Court held that the proper procedure for seeking review of a local jurisdiction's quasi-judicial administrative decision is not a declaratory judgment action, but a statutory writ proceeding under RCW 7.16.040. 57 Wn.2d at 564. *Reeder* dismissed the plaintiff's declaratory judgment action after finding that a writ action was available and would

have afforded the plaintiff with all the relief to which he was entitled. In the present case, a writ action was likewise available under RCW 7.16.040, and it too would have afforded New Cingular with all the relief it was seeking.

But instead of following *Reeder*, the Court of Appeals held, for the first time, that a city's quasi-judicial administrative decision may be subject to judicial review only if the Legislature has first specifically enacted legislation setting forth a special procedure for seeking judicial review (such as the LUPA for land use cases); and, if not, then a party can choose to invoke the court's trial jurisdiction via a declaratory judgment action. The court incorrectly framed the "central issue" as follows: ". . . whether the *legislature* has established any specific procedures by which a party must challenge the legality of a municipal fine." (Op. at 5; emphasis added.) Finally, the Court of Appeals held that because the writ statute itself, RCW 7.16.040, does not specifically state that it applies to municipal fines, it does "not circumscribe New Cingular's ability to invoke the superior court's original trial jurisdiction" via a declaratory judgment action to "challenge" the City's final decision with regard to its municipal fine. Op. at 7 (emphasis in original).

This last comment by the Court of Appeals is of most concern to the City, as the writ statute does not specifically state that it applies to *any* type of case at all (such as, for instance, cases regarding "municipal fines," or "tax assessments"). Under the court's analysis, parties are no longer required to file writ actions under RCW 7.16.040 for judicial review of a municipality's final administrative decision in *any* type of case; because the statute does not address any particular type of case. The result is that parties can now simply choose to ignore a municipality's final administrative decision, even though they used to be required to appeal those decisions under the writ statute. *See, Reeder, supra*. Such a result ignores this Court's holding in *Reeder;* renders RCW 7.16.040 voluntary - at best -- and in reality, obsolete; and eviscerates this Court's long-standing requirement for exhaustion of administrative remedies.

New Cingular argued below that *Reeder*, which was decided in 1961, had already been rejected by the adoption of CR 57 in 1967 *and* this Court's decision in *Ronken v. Bd of County Comm'rs*, 89 Wn.2d 304, 572 P.2d 1 (1977). The Court of Appeals did not address this argument. To the extent this Court considers it, this argument is without merit.

First, CR 57 states, in part: "The existence of another adequate remedy does not preclude a judgment for declaratory relief in cases where

it is appropriate."¹² This rule does not change the law. Writs of review were always necessary to seek judicial review of an administrative decision, thus, declaratory relief was never an "appropriate" remedy and was not made appropriate by this rule.

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