Received
Washington State Supreme Court

JUL 15 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

No. <u>Q 1978-0</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS, LLC,

Appellant

v.

THE CITY OF CLYDE HILL, WASHINGTON,

Respondent

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I (Court of Appeals No. 71626-3-I)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott M. Edwards
WSBA No. 26455
Ryan P. McBride
WSBA No. 33280
Attorneys for Appellant New Cingular
Wireless PCS, LLC

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-0402 Telephone: (206) 223-7000 Facsimile: (206) 223-7107

031147.0122/6380579.1

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

Clyde Hill argues that the Opinion somehow runs afoul of the Washington Constitution. Pet. at 5. It doesn't. There's no dispute that the Constitution vests our state's superior courts with "original jurisdiction" in all cases involving the "legality" of any "municipal tax," WASH. CONST. Art. IV, § 6, and that the legislature implemented this grant by statute. RCW 2.08.010. Nor is there any dispute that Article IV, § 6 "pertains to both original trial jurisdiction and original appellate jurisdiction." *James v. County of Kitsap*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 588, 115 P.3d 286 (2005). Thus, as the

Court of Appeals properly recognized, the issue is whether there is some source of law that limits Article IV, § 6 such that the superior court can only exercise its appellate jurisdiction over challenges to a municipal fine.

The Opinion correctly holds that there is not. To be sure, the Clyde Hill Municipal Code, which states that a mayor's decision is final absent a "judicial appeal," cannot limit the superior court's original trial jurisdiction. As the Court of Appeals noted, this Court has held that "a municipality cannot limit the jurisdiction of the superior courts or prescribe the manner in which they operate." Op. at 5 (citing City of Spokane v. J-R Distribs., Inc., 90 Wn.2d 722, 729, 585 P.2d 784 (1978) (the "jurisdiction and duties of the superior court ... must be conferred by the constitution and by legislative authority")). The lower courts have uniformly recognized this too. See City of Tacoma v. Mary Kay, Inc., 117 Wn. App. 111, 115, 70 P.3d 144 (2003) (city code could not prescribe means of invoking superior court's original jurisdiction to the filing of a "notice of appeal").

As the Court of Appeals also properly recognized, only the state legislature can impose "procedural requirements" that effectively limit the superior court's jurisdiction over certain disputes to appellate review. Op. at 5-6 (quoting *James v. Kitsap County*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 588-89, 115 P.3d 286 (2005) ("state courts have required substantial compliance [with] ... the procedural requirements before they will exercise jurisdiction over the

matter")). The legislature did this, for example, when it enacted the Industrial Insurance Act. *Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 314-15, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003). It did it again with the APA. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn. App. 342, 359-60, 271 P.3d 268 (2012). And with LUPA, too. *James*, 154 Wn.2d at 588-89.

Unlike these acts, "[n]o statute articulates specific procedures for getting into superior court with a challenge to the legality of a municipal fine." Op. at 6. Thus, after it exhausted its administrative remedies, New Cingular could invoke *either* type of superior court jurisdiction: original *trial* jurisdiction by filing a complaint, or *appellate* jurisdiction by seeking a writ of review. New Cingular understandably chose the former. Clyde Hill's administrative process was perfunctory; there was no opportunity for discovery or evidentiary hearing. Appellate review of the agency "record" would amount to no review at all. New Cingular timely filed a complaint for a declaratory judgment to test the legality of city's fine *de novo*.

¹ Clyde Hill's suggestion that the Opinion allows litigants to bypass the APA or LUPA by filing a declaratory judgment actions is a red-herring. Pet. at 9. The Court of Appeals noted just the opposite: the APA and LUPA are comprehensive schemes imposing procedural requisites to superior court jurisdiction—making appellate jurisdiction the exclusive means of review. Op. at 6. Although the legislature could impose similar requisites to superior court jurisdiction over disputes regarding municipal taxes or fines, it never has. Indeed, that is the whole point of the Opinion.

2. The Opinion Follows The Decisions Of This Court And The Court Of Appeals, Which Recognize Superior Court Original Trial Jurisdiction In Cases Like This One.

There is no merit to Clyde Hill's claim that the Court of Appeals' holding is "unprecedented." Pet. at 8 & n. 9. In the analogous context of municipal tax disputes, over which Article IV, § 6 likewise confers original jurisdiction in the superior courts, this Court has recognized that a taxpayer has a choice of invoking the superior court's original trial jurisdiction or its appellate jurisdiction. *See Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 651, 310 P.3d 804 (2013) ("CMS chose to [file] suit in superior court. CMS could also have chosen (although it was not required to do so) to seek [a writ of] mandamus from the superior court"); *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue*, 161 Wn.2d 353, 371, 166 P.3d 667 (2007) (Qwest "did not invoke the Superior Court's appellate jurisdiction").²

There's no conflict with any prior decision of the court of appeals, either. On the contrary, the Opinion is wholly consistent with, and follows, the holding in *City of Tacoma v. Mary Kay, Inc.*, 117 Wn. App. 111, 70

² Cost Management clarified dicta in Qwest improperly conflating jurisdiction and exhaustion, holding that the "superior court's original jurisdiction over a claim does not relieve it of its responsibility to consider whether exhaustion should apply" 178 Wn.2d at 648. Importantly, Cost Management did not reject, much less overrule, Qwest's recognition that the superior court had original trial jurisdiction in a municipal tax case; on the contrary, it reaffirmed and followed that principle itself.

P.3d 144 (2003)—which Clyde Hill tellingly tries (and fails) to dismiss in a footnote. Pet. at 8 n. 9. In *Mary Kay*, after the city's hearing examiner ruled that the city's tax was invalid, and all other administrative remedies were exhausted, the city sought to invoke the superior court's original *trial* jurisdiction so that it could obtain discovery and a trial *de novo*. *Id.* at 113. The court of appeals held that the superior court *could have* exercised original jurisdiction over the issue because the city's claim involved the "legality of any tax" under Article IV, § 6 and RCW 2.08.010. *Id.* at 115.

The problem, however, was that the city failed to properly invoke the court's jurisdiction when it filed a "notice of appeal." *Mary Kay* states clearly what the city should have done: "Tacoma could invoke the superior court's original jurisdiction ... by filing a complaint, CR 3 ..." *Id.* at 115. Or, alternatively, the city could have filed a writ of review, "[b]ut even if it had ... the superior court still would have been limited to a review on the record[.]" *Id.* at 115-116 & n. 6. The import of *Mary Kay* is plain: to challenge the legality of a municipal tax or fine in a *de novo* proceeding, a party should invoke the superior court's original *trial* jurisdiction "by filing a complaint." That is precisely what New Cingular did.

3. The Writ Of Review Statute Does Not Establish An Exclusive Means Of Seeking Judicial Review Of Quasi-Judicial Decisions Involving Municipal Fines.

Clyde Hill next argues that, just like the APA and LUPA, the legislature intended the writ of review statute to limit a superior court's original jurisdiction over all quasi-judicial municipal decisions to appellate review. Pet. at 10 ("RCW 7.16.040 clearly contains the Legislature's required procedures for securing judicial review of all types of quasi-judicial administrative decisions that have not otherwise been addressed by separate statutes."). The Opinion correctly rejected this argument as well. Op. at 6-7. Not only is it contrary to cases like *Cost Management* and *Mary Kay*, which recognize the superior court's original *trial* jurisdiction over analogous quasi-judicial municipal administrative tax decisions, it ignores the plain meaning and purpose of the writ statute itself.

The writ of review statute sets forth a procedure for invoking the superior court's *appellate* jurisdiction, but—as the Court of Appeals held—the statute does not curtail the superior court's original *trial* jurisdiction. Op. at 7. Unlike the APA, LUPA or other statutory schemes, RCW 7.16 does not expressly or implicitly establish an exclusive means of judicial review. *Compare* RCW 34.05.510 (APA "establishes the exclusive means of judicial review of agency action ..."); RCW 36.70C.030(1) (LUPA "shall be the exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions.").

Rather, a statutory writ gives the superior court discretion to exercise appellate jurisdiction over quasi-judicial administrative decisions where there is "no appeal." RCW 7.16.040. Not surprisingly, no court has construed RCW 7.16's grant of appellate jurisdiction as an implicit limitation on the superior court's trial jurisdiction over the same dispute.

4. The Opinion Does Not Conflict With Reeder.

By the same token, the Opinion does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Reeder v. King Co.*, 57 Wn.2d 563, 564, 358 P.2d 810 (1961). *Reeder* held that a party challenging a municipal land-use decision could not seek declaratory relief if a writ of review was an "adequate remedy." *Id.* As a threshold matter, *Reeder* reflects a pre-LUPA policy requiring prompt review in the land-use context. *Federal Way v. King Co.*, 62 Wn. App. 530, 538, 815 P.2d 790 (1991) ("The consistent policy in this state is to review decisions affecting use of land expeditiously so that legal uncertainties can be promptly resolved and land development not unnecessarily slowed or defeated by litigation-based delays."). The precise holding in *Reeder* is now reflected in and superseded by LUPA itself.

To the extent *Reeder* applied beyond land-use cases, its reasoning was abrogated by CR 57. The availability of a writ of review is no longer a bar to a declaratory judgment action. As this Court held, "[t]he rule ... that declaratory relief will not lie where any alternative remedy is available,

was changed by court rule in 1967." Ronken v. Bd. of Co. Comm'rs of Snohomish Co., 89 Wn.2d 304, 310, 572 P.2d 1 (1977) ("Reeder ... no longer control[s]"). The lower courts agree. See Donald v. City of Vancouver, 43 Wn. App. 880, 883 n. 2, 719 P.2d 966 (1986) ("defendants' attempt to defend the conclusion that [plaintiff] was not entitled to seek declaratory relief because he could have sought equivalent relief through a writ of review is not well taken. Such doctrine was overruled long ago").

Under CR 57, "[t]he existence of another adequate remedy does not preclude a judgment for declaratory relief in cases where it is appropriate." As the Court of Appeals recognized, and subsequent case law confirms, a declaratory judgment action is "appropriate" unless "it is sought as a means of avoiding the strict statutory procedural rules and short time limits" legislatively imposed in comprehensive and exclusive statutory schemes. Op. at 9-10; *Stafne v. Snohomish Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 24, 39, 271 P.3d 868 (2012) (declaratory relief not available when LUPA provides exclusive remedy). Indeed, the UDJA says so specifically. RCW 7.24.146 ("This chapter does not apply to state agency action reviewable under [the APA]."). As discussed above, unlike the APA or LUPA, there is no statutory scheme imposing limits on the superior court's Article IV, § 6 jurisdiction over cases involving the legality of a "municipal fine."

5. The Opinion Does Not Conflict With Cases Requiring The Exhaustion Of Administrative Remedies.

Finally, this Court can easily dismiss Clyde Hill's suggestion that the Opinion is inconsistent with the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine. Pet. at 15-17. Jurisdiction and exhaustion are distinct concepts. "The exhaustion doctrine has no bearing on the jurisdiction of the court in terms of the constitutional power of the court to hear a case." Cost Mgmt., 178 Wn.2d at 648. Rather, when jurisdiction exists, a superior court should consider, as a matter of "judicial administration" and "deference," whether "an adequate administrative remedy exists that the claimant should try first[.]" Id. Thus, in Cost Management, this Court found exhaustion excused. Id. at 643-45. In IGI Res., Inc. v. City of Pasco, 180 Wn. App. 638, 325 P.3d 275 (2014), the court found that it was not. Id. at 642. Critically, in both cases, there was no dispute that the superior court had original trial jurisdiction over the taxpayer's claims under Article IV, § 6.

New Cingular fully exhausted Clyde Hill's administrative process before filing suit. And, although irrelevant to the jurisdictional issue, New Cingular's election to file an original action did not, as Clyde Hill claims, render the process meaningless. Pet. at 16-17. As the Opinion notes, New Cingular's protest served a key purpose of the exhaustion doctrine in that it gave the "mayor an opportunity to correct errors Clyde Hill may have made

in imposing the fine," before resort to the courts. Op. at 8. The mayor simply refused to do so. Nor did New Cingular's election squander agency expertise or findings of fact developed during an adversarial proceeding; the mayor's "informal hearing" involved neither thing. For this reason too, the Opinion does not undermine the exhaustion doctrine. If anything, the lack of administrative process explains why New Cingular chose a *de novo* declaratory judgment action over limited appellate review.

B. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded That New Cingular's Declaratory Judgment Action Was Not Subject To A 30-Day Statute Of Limitations Period.

Clyde Hill argued in both the trial court and on appeal that—even if the superior court had original jurisdiction over New Cingular's declaratory judgment action—the action was untimely. The UDJA does not have a limitations period. Thus, a declaratory judgment action must be brought within a reasonable time, "determined by analogy to the time allowed for ... a similar [action] as prescribed by statute, rule of court, or other provision." *Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. American Tower, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 154, 163, 293 P.3d 407 (2013). The trial court never reached the issue, *see* VRP at 13:22-14:2, and the Court of Appeals refused to affirm on this alternative ground, leaving the issue to the trial court. Op. at 11. The Court of Appeals held, however, that on remand it would be "inappropriate to apply a 30-day time limit by analogy to an appellate proceeding." *Id.*

That holding was plainly correct, and likewise presents no issue for review.³ The Court of Appeals rightly rejected Clyde Hill's claim that a declaratory judgment action should be governed by the "same 30-day time limit applicable to a writ." Pet. at 18. Clyde Hill ignores the difference between the superior court's original trial jurisdiction and its appellate jurisdiction. A writ of review requires the court to act only in an appellate capacity and, thus, it is analogous to an appeal; time limits are usually measured in days. A declaratory judgment action, on the other hand, is a de novo proceeding and, thus, it is analogous—indeed, identical—to an ordinary cause of action; time limits are usually measured in years. See, e.g., Schreiner, 173 Wn. App. at 160-64 (six-year breach of contract limitations period applied by analogy in UDJA action).

New Cingular argued, and the Court of Appeal apparently agreed, that the most analogous limitations period is three years—which is "the time limit for seeking a refund of an illegal tax or fee" assessed by a municipality. *Carrillo v. City of Ocean Shores*, 122 Wn. App. 592, 610, 94 P.3d 961 (2004); *Robinson v. City of Seattle*, 119 Wn.2d 34, 830 P.2d 318

³ Clyde Hill argues that the relevant time period for seeking a writ of review is 30 days. Pet. at 17-18. Maybe so, and New Cingular has never argued otherwise. But that issue is irrelevant, and provides no grounds for review. Because New Cingular never sought a writ of review, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals considered the timeliness of a writ. The only relevant issue, as the Court of Appeals recognized, is whether New Cingular's declaratory judgment action was timely.

(1992). Clyde Hill cannot distinguish this authority on the grounds that

"[t]his is not an action to 'recover' taxes or fees." Pet. at 19. The fact that

New Cingular brought a declaratory judgment action to invalidate an

illegal municipal fine before it was paid, instead of bringing a refund action

to recover an illegal fine after it was paid, is a superficial distinction

without a difference; the nature of the action is the same. For purposes of

analogy, the applicable limitations period is the same too.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied, so that New Cingular can

challenge Clyde Hill's overreaching fine on the merits. The Opinion is

neither novel nor unprecedented. If follows well-established principles of

superior court original jurisdiction over cases involving municipal taxes

and fines, as well as prior decisions of this Court and the court of appeals.